Case No. 69399 c/w 70478

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

FREDERIC AND BARBARA
ROSENBERG LIVING TRUST,
Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

vs.

MACDONALD HIGHLANDS
REALTY, LLC, a Nevada Limited
Liability Company; MICHAEL
DOIRON, an Individual; and FHP
VENTURES, a Nevada Limited
Partnership,
Respondent/Cross-Appellants.

Electronically Filed
Oct 13 2016 11:51 a.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

FREDERIC AND BARBARA
ROSENBERG LIVING TRUST,
Appellant,

vs.

SHAHIN SHANE MALEK,
Respondent.

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable KENNETH CORY, District Judge
District Court Case No. A-13-689113-C

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Respectfully submitted by:

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 3(A)(b)(1), as the District Court, on August 13, 2015, entered: (1) a final order granting MacDonald Highlands Realty, LLC, Michael Doiron, and FHP Ventures'¹ (the "MacDonald Parties") Motion for Summary Judgment, written notice of which was served electronically on August 13, 2015 (12JA_2490-2503)²; and (2) a final order granting Shahin Shane Malek's ("Malek") Motion for Summary Judgment, written notice of which was served electronically on August 20, 2015. (12JA_2505-2525.)

On November 10, 2015, the District Court entered an order granting the MacDonald Parties Motion for Certification Pursuant to NRCP 54(b) and an order granting the MacDonald Parties' Motion for Attorneys Fees and Costs and Motion to Re-Tax Costs. (13JA_2775-2777.) Written notice of each which was served electronically on November 10, 2015. (13JA_2779-2789.) On January 13, 2016, the District Court entered an order granting Malek's Motion for Attorneys Fees and Costs and granting in part the Trust's Motion to Retax Costs, written notice of which was served electronically on January 20, 2016. (13JA_2817-2827.) On March 10, 2016, a stipulation and order was entered dismissing Bank of America, N.A., with

¹ FHP Ventures was erroneously sued as The Foothills Partners.

² Joint Appendix ("JA"). All citations to the JA will include the volume number followed by _page number, e.g. 1JA_0001.

prejudice, written notice of which was served electronically on March 18, 2016. (13JA_2834-2840.) On May 18, 2016, a stipulation and order was entered dismissing Malek's claim for slander of title against the Trust. (12JA_2842-2845.) On August 9, 2016, a stipulation and order was entered dismissing BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP with prejudice, written notice of which was served electronically on August 10, 2016. (Docket 70478, Document 2016-24779, Ex. 1)

The remaining parties were all dismissed prior to entry of the first final order granting summary judgment in the District Court case. Specifically, DragonRidge Properties, DragonRidge Golf Club, MacDonald Properties were dismissed by order entered on January 10, 2014 (1JA_0053-0054), Real Property Management Group was voluntarily dismissed on April 29, 2014 (1JA_0087-0088), and Paul Bykowski and Foothills at MacDonald Ranch Master Association were voluntarily dismissed on April 22, 2015. (Docket 70478, Document 2016-20089, Ex. 4.)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter arises from a real property lawsuit filed in the District Court. The District Court impermissibly granted summary judgment against Plaintiff-Appellant when it rejected Nevada law that recognizes the existence of an implied restrictive covenant for use; specifically, an implied restrictive covenant over the Dragon Ridge golf course in the master planned community of MacDonald Highlands (the “Golf Course”). As the District Court failed to do the appropriate factual analysis to determine if such an implied restrictive covenant existed in this case, the summary judgment orders entered against Plaintiff-Appellant should be reversed. Plaintiff-Appellant believes that this case should remain with the Nevada Supreme Court as opposed to being sent to the Court of Appeals because it raises an issue of statewide public importance: whether Nevada recognizes an implied restrictive covenant for use over golf courses in planned communities, especially where so many of Nevada’s homeowners now live in common-interest communities surrounding golf courses and are induced to pay premiums for homes based on the master plan and platted golf course. NRAP 17(a)(14).³ The outcome in this case could apply equally

³ There is at least one other case pending before the United States District Court, District of Nevada that is dealing with this similar issue in the context of golf course property. *See Hellerstein v. Desert Lifestyles, LLC*, 2:15-cv-01804-RFB-CWH.

to other platted common elements in such common-interest, planned unit developments, e.g. parks and recreational centers. Thus, this case could impact the expectations of millions of Nevada homeowners in both Clark and Washoe counties who have purchased homes in communities with the promise of golf courses, parks, recreational areas, and the like.

Additionally, as an alternative claim, a jury determined an implied restrictive covenant did not exist, Plaintiff-Appellant sought recovery of damages in the amount of over \$750,000.00, for loss of value of the subject property due to the broker and realtor's failure to disclose material facts that impacted the overall value of the property. NRAP 17(b)(2)(stating that judgments of less than \$250,000 in a tort case are presumptively routed to the Court of Appeals).

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether the District Court erred in determining that Nevada does not recognize implied restrictive covenants?
2. Whether the District Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of the MacDonald Parties and Malek when Rosenbergs established the existence of an implied restrictive covenant over the Golf Course, or at a minimum, set forth issues of fact that should have precluded summary judgment in this case?
3. Whether the District Court erred in finding that the Rosenbergs waived the

MacDonald Parties' statutory and common law duty to disclose material facts?

4. Whether the District Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of the MacDonald Parties on the issue of disclosure because issues of fact exist regarding the materiality of Malek's purchase of golf course property and the Rosenbergs' ability to discover this information absent disclosure?
5. Whether the District Court abused its discretion in granting the MacDonald Parties attorneys fees when the Offer was unreasonable in time and amount?
6. Whether the District Court abused its discretion in granting Malek attorneys fees when the Rosenbergs' claim was grounded in law, and therefore was not vexatious?
7. Whether the District Court abused its discretion in granting Malek attorneys fees without conducting a *Brunzell* analysis?
8. Whether the District Court abused its discretion in granting Malek attorneys fees even though Malek did not prevail on his counter-claim?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from orders granting summary judgment in an action to enforce an implied restrictive covenant running with land over a golf course in a masterplanned golf course community, or in the alternative, seeking compensatory damages for failure to disclose material facts about converting a part of the golf course into a residential development. This is also an appeal from orders granting attorneys fees pursuant to NRCP 68 and NRS 18.010.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On or about May 15, 2013, Fred and Barbara Rosenberg (the “Rosenbergs”) purchased their retirement home located at 590 Lairmont Place, Henderson, Nevada 89012 (the “Home”) from Bank of America, N.A. (“BANA”).⁴ (1JA_0142.) At about age 70, Fred, an avid golfer, loved the fact that the Home was located on the 9th hole of the Dragon Ridge Golf Course (“Golf Course”). (2JA_0303.) The Golf Course is located within a master planned community known as MacDonald Highlands, and opened for play in 2000. (6JA_1262-1263.) MacDonald Highlands markets itself as a premier golf course community. (6JA_1263.) Richard MacDonald

⁴ The Rosenbergs took title of their Home through the Frederic and Barbara Rosenberg Living Trust. (2JA_0262.)

(“MacDonald”) developed MacDonald Highlands, and, for all intents and purposes, he remains the declarant-in-control under the community association’s CC&Rs.⁵ MacDonald is also a real estate broker who owns and operates MacDonald Highlands Realty. (2JA_0382.) Michael Dorion (“Doiron”) worked for MacDonald as a licensed real estate agent at MacDonald Highlands Realty and represented BANA, the seller, in the Rosenbergs’ purchase of the Home. (3JA_0556, 4JA_0676.)

When the Golf Course was sold in 2014 to Pacific Links, MacDonald testified that it would remain a Golf Course because “[t]hat’s the condition of the community master plan.” (6JA_1262-1263.) MacDonald testified that he always intended the Golf Course to be an amenity of MacDonald Highlands. (6JA_1264.) The MacDonald Highlands’ website and other promotional materials also reference the Golf Course, and the community and plat maps reference the Golf Course. (7JA_1360-1364.)

⁵ At the time of the Rosenbergs’ purchase, DRFH Ventures, LLC, was the owner of the Golf Course, and MacDonald is the manager of DRFH Ventures, LLC. (6JA_1253,1264.) MacDonald is also the manager of The Foothills Development Company, which is the general partner for FHP Ventures, LLC. (6JA_1264.) FHP Ventures is the developer of MacDonald Highlands, and remains the declarant-in-control under the community association’s CC&Rs. (*Id.*)

Likewise, the Golf Course is such an integral part of MacDonald Highlands that both the CC&Rs and the Design Guidelines reference the Golf Course and place restrictions on golf course parcels to preserve the integrity and value of those parcels. (6JA_1270-1306.) The CC&Rs burden all properties abutting the Golf Course with an easement for golf balls and golfers to enter the properties. (6JA_1306.) The Design Guidelines which govern undeveloped lots in MacDonald Highlands state:

The community identity is further enhanced by an 18-hole championship golf course and destination resort. The golf course fairways meander throughout the neighborhoods within MacDonald Highlands, with many of the individual homesites featuring direct frontage on the course. In addition, significant view corridors to the golf course are provided at key locations along the community street system. (6JA1271-1272.)

The Design Review Committee is tasked with the authority “to protect and enhance owner value,” and “preserve the natural character of the desert environment.” (6JA_1271.)

When the Rosenbergs purchased their Home, the property adjacent to it, 594 Lairmont Place, owned by Respondent Shahin Shane Malek (“Malek”), was a one acre, empty dirt lot set back behind the 9th hole. (the “Malek Property”). (4JA_0737.) Malek purchased this lot on or about August 8, 2012. (1JA_0078.) MacDonald Highlands Realty and Dorion represented the seller in that sale. (3JA_0550.)

Unbeknownst to the Rosenbergs, at the same time that Malek purchased the Malek Property, he approached Dorion about purchasing 1/3 of an acre of the 9th

hole's in-play area that directly borders the Malek Property ("Golf Parcel"). (3JA_550.) Without the addition of the Golf Parcel to Malek's Property, express restrictive covenants imposing strict set-backs on all lots would require that any house built on the Malek Property sit next to the Rosenbergs' Home, in a contiguous line with the rest of the houses that border the Golf Course in accordance with the community plat map. (3JA_0466, 7JA_1552.) Malek believed that he could get around this restriction and increase his building envelope if he acquired part of the 9th hole. (See photo, 5JA_0146.) Such a house built with this increased building envelope would jut out substantially from the contiguous line of the houses bordering the Golf Course and detrimentally affect the property value of the Rosenbergs' Home. (*Id.*) Expert opinions disclosed by the Rosenbergs quantified the loss of value to the Rosenbergs' Home to be between \$750,000.00-\$1,000,000.00. (See 2JA_0279, 0285, 0413.) Ultimately, MacDonald agreed to sell the Golf Parcel to Malek "subject to" whatever restriction and conditions existed on the Golf Parcel. (3JA_0614; 7JA_1380.) Doiron represented both parties and wrote the contract for the sale of the Golf Parcel. (3JA_0550.)

As a term of the sale, MacDonald had to rezone the Golf Parcel from public/semipublic use to low-density residential. To accomplish this, MacDonald applied to the City of Henderson to amend MacDonald Highlands' comprehensive plan, change the public zoning, revise the land use, and vacate any utility easements.

(3JA_0551, 6JA_1163-1173.) In December 2012, the City of Henderson approved the zoning change. (6JA_1333-7JA_1343.) The physical maps with the City of Henderson reflecting the zoning changes to the Golf Parcel were updated on or about January 24, 2013. (3JA_0539.) However, these maps only showed the zoning change; they did not show any boundary line changes to the Golf Course or Malek's Property. (*Id.*)

At the time the Rosenbergs purchased the Home, both MacDonald and Doiron knew that the public zoning had been changed so Malek could build a house on what was still in-play area of the 9th hole. (3JA_0551.) Despite this, MacDonald Highlands Realty did not update its disclosure records to include current zoning and community maps that reflected the change made to the Golf Parcel. (3JA_0551.) It also failed to update the community map on its website to reflect the anticipated boundary line changes to the Malek Property, and it failed to update the topography table located in the MacDonald Highlands office to reflect the anticipated boundary line changes to the Malek Property. (3JA_0552.)

More importantly, even though she had intimate involvement in the sale of the Golf Parcel and knew about the zoning change, Doiron never disclosed to the Rosenbergs that part of the 9th hole bordering the Home would soon have a house built on it. (3JA_0556.) Instead, when Doiron showed the Rosenbergs a diagram of all of the lots in MacDonald Highlands, it showed no changes surrounding the 9th

hole. (2JA_0267-0268.) Moreover, during the due diligence period, Doiron intentionally misled the Rosenbergs by providing them with a binder that included outdated zoning maps while stating that it “contains the most recent zoning and land use information” for the subject property. (3JA_0554-0556; 6JA_1195; *see, also*, 2JA_0301-0302.) Furthermore, Doiron signed the Seller’s Real Property Disclosure Form affirming full disclosure of any and all conditions and information known by the Seller that materially affected the value of the Rosenberg’s future Home. (6JA_1211-1214.) Additionally, when the Rosenbergs conducted a visual inspection of their Home and the surrounding area, they did not observe anything that would indicate boundary line changes on the Golf Parcel or Malek’s Property. (2JA_0266.)

Completely unaware that a residence was about to be built on the Golf Course directly in their backyard, on March 13, 2013, the Rosenbergs entered into a Purchase Agreement to buy their dream home. (3JA_0328-0338.) The Purchase Agreement contained a Waiver of Claims provision for the benefit of the seller (BANA) wherein the Rosenbergs acknowledged that the Home would be sold “as-is.” (3JA_0335-0336.) The Rosenbergs understood “as-is” to mean “the structural problems that were inside the house, and the cosmetic problems that were inside the house.” (2JA_0252.)

On April 8, 2013, Malek took legal title to the Golf Parcel. (3JA_0579-0580.) The final map delineating the new lot lines for Malek’s Property, which now

included the Golf Parcel, was not recorded until June 2013, over four months after the Rosenbergs closed on their Home. (3JA_0545, 3JA_0620.) Upon learning this, the Rosenbergs brought the underlying action and sought to enforce the implied restrictive covenant limiting the use of the Golf Course, or in the alternative, monetary damages from MacDonald Highlands Realty and Dorion for their failure to disclose the change of the Golf Parcel into a residential lot. (1JA_0001-0021, 0089-0109.)

II. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

The Rosenbergs filed their Complaint seeking, among other claims, a declaration that an implied easement existed over the Golf Course which prohibited Malek from altering the Golf Course. (1JA_0019-20.) Thereafter, the Rosenbergs filed an Amended Complaint, and again alleged a claim for an implied restrictive covenant. (1JA_0105.) As part of this claim, the Rosenbergs alleged that the restrictive covenant “requires the Golf Parcel to be used as part of the 18-hole golf course and for no other purpose.” (1JA_0105.) After the close of discovery, Malek filed a motion for summary judgment wherein he claimed that the Rosenbergs sought a view easement, and that Nevada does not recognize such an easement. (1JA_0198.)

Despite the fact that the Rosenbergs denied seeking an easement for view, and reiterated time and time again they sought an implied restrictive covenant as to use,

the District Court accepted Malek's misinterpretation of the claim. (6JA_1124; 6JA_1369; 13JA_2866; 2868; 14JA_2931-35; 2937; 2977-2983; 3006; 3027; 3049.) This error permeated the District Court's decision granting Malek's motion for summary judgment, the MacDonald Parties' motion for summary judgment, and in awarding attorneys fees. (12JA_2466-2468; 2485.) This appeal followed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is a case about a retired couple, the Rosenbergs, buying a house on a golf course within a master planned community and discovering afterwards that a house was going to be built on a piece of the Golf Course directly bordering their Home. When the Rosenbergs sued to enforce an implied restrictive covenant limiting the use of the Golf Course, or in the alternative, to seek damages caused by the non-disclosure of the change in use of the Golf Course, the District Court found that Nevada does not recognize implied restrictive covenants, that there was no implied easement to light and air, and that the Rosenbergs waived all disclosures. The District Court compounded these errors by awarding the Respondents' attorneys fees, finding that the claim against Malek was vexatious and that the Rosenbergs should have accepted the MacDonald Parties' token offer.

To be clear, the Rosenbergs do not seek an easement as to light and air. Instead, the Rosenbergs seek to enforce the implied restrictive covenant which limits

the Golf Parcel to a use consistent with the Golf Course.⁶ For example, prior to the sale to Malek, the owner of the Golf Course could have converted part of the 9th hole into a restroom for golf players. This would not have violated the implied restrictive covenant because this use, while unsightly and damaging to the view from the Rosenbergs' Home, would nevertheless still be consistent with the use of the land as golf course. Here, the Rosenbergs simply want the 1/3 acre of the 9th hole that was sold to Malek to continue to be used in a manner consistent with a golf course.

The concept of restricting/preserving land use relied on by the Rosenbergs has been recognized by Nevada since 1913 when this Court in *Shearer* recognized the concept of dedication or restrictive covenant. *Shearer v. City of Reno*, 36 Nev. 443, 136 P. 705 (1913). This Court reaffirmed this concept in 1965 in *Boyd v. McDonald*, 81 Nev. 642, 408 P.2d 717 (1965) (recognizing the concept of implied easement), and in 1968 in *Meredith v. Washoe Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 84 Nev. 15, 17, 435 P.2d 750, 752 (1968) (stating a restrictive covenant is an easement or a servitude in the nature of an easement). Most importantly, while the principal of “an implied easement[/covenant] arises by operation of law, the existence of an implied easement[/covenant] is generally a question of fact.” *Jackson v. Nash*, 109 Nev.

⁶ The Restatement Third defines “restrictive covenant” as “a negative covenant that limits permissible uses of land.” Restatement (Third) of Property, Servitudes, § 1.3(3) (2000).

1202, 1208, 866 P.2d 262, 267 (1993).

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