ARGUMENT 

I. THE FACTUAL STATEMENTS BY RESPONDENTS ARE EITHER FALSE OR 

MISLEADING 

 MUCH OF MALEK’S STATEMENT OF FACTS IS EITHER FALSE OR  

MISLEADING  

Malek’s Statement of Facts1 is riddled with irrelevant facts, includes 

argumentative or suggestive language that renders the statement false or misleading, 

and contains blatant misstatements of fact. Because the Rosenbergs’2 appeal against 

Malek rests on the District Court erring in determining that Nevada does not 

recognize implied restrictive covenants, the Rosenbergs will not address facts that 

do not relate to this issue, as they are not material, and have no bearing on the issues 

on appeal.

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

impacted the Rosenberg’s property because Doiron knew that Malek intended to 

merge the Golf Parcel with 594 Lairmont.38 However, the SRPD was not answered 

accurately as evidenced by the responses to the following questions: 

  “Are you aware of . . . Whether the property is located next to or near 
any known future development? No.”39  This response is false because 
it is undisputed that Malek intends to construct a house on his lots.40 

 “Are you aware of . . . Any other conditions or aspects of the property 
which materially affect its value or use in an adverse manner? No.”41  
This response is false because the sale of the Golf Parcel to Malek and 
the change in Malek’s lot lines materially affect the Rosenberg’s 
property.42 
 

 In short, there is ample evidence which raises genuine issues of material fact 

as to the MacDonald Parties’ violation of NRS 645.259, such that the District Court 

erred when it granted summary judgment in favor of the MacDonald Parties. 

                                                 
36 6JA_1210. 
37 3JA_0550, 160:22-161:4. 
38 3JA_0550, 161:25. 
39 6JA_1212. 
40 2JA_0280, 187:10-16. 
41 6JA_1212. 
422JA_0280, 198:24-200:10. 
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 THE MACDONALD PARTIES NEVER DISCLOSED THE SALE OF THE GOLF 

PARCEL, THE CHANGE IN ZONING OR THE CHANGE IN BOUNDARY LINES.  

The MacDonald Parties’ claim that Doiron made disclosures regarding zoning 

and property boundaries cannot be sustained: Doiron did not provide accurate, 

current information regarding the lot lines of the Golf Course. All information 

provided was misleading. The MacDonald Parties did not update the community 

map on the website to reflect the merger of the Golf Parcel with Malek’s property. 

43  The topography table located in the MacDonald Realty office was not changed 

after the merger – and still was not changed as of March 6, 2015. 44  Additionally, 

the “final map of the neighborhood” Doiron provided the Rosenbergs was dated 

March 4, 2004 – nine years before the Rosenbergs’ purchase. 45  Additionally, the 

zoning map was a map of Henderson and did not depict any lot lines of Lairmont 

Street. 46 47  Further, even if the Rosenbergs had some inkling that there had been a 

change to the lot lines for the Golf Course, the Rosenbergs would not have been able 

to discover that information until May or June of 2013 – months after the purchase 

of their property. 48    

 Simply put, the Rosenbergs were on notice of nothing, and the MacDonald 

                                                 
43 3JA_0552, 166:2-1). 
44 3JA_0552, 166:12-25. 
45 3JA_0554, 175:18-21, 176:7-12, 177:12-16.  
46 3JA_0559, 194:16. 
47 2JA_0301, 272:22-273:3. 
48 3JA_0545, 51:10-22. 
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Parties want to ignore their responsibilities and attempt to shift the burden to the 

Rosenbergs to research and inspect a material change that was in the MacDonal 

Parties’ purview, and of which the Rosenbergs had no reason to believe had even 

occurred. At a minimum, whether the Rosenbergs could have learned this 

information absent disclosure is an issue of fact and therefore the District Court erred 

in granting summary judgment.  

 THE “AS IS” PROVISION DOES NOT ACT AS A WAIVER OF THE 

MACDONALD PARTIES’ STATUTORY AND COMMON LAW DUTIES OF 

DISCLOSURE.  

 The MacDonald Parties attempt to side-step the reality that issues of fact exist 

as to whether they violated both common law and statutory duties of disclosure by 

claiming the “AS-IS” provision of the Purchase Agreement negates all of these 

issues of fact. There is one glaring problem with this argument: every single “AS-

IS” provision in the documents pertain to only the condition of the property that the 

Rosenbergs purchased, not the Golf Course, not the Golf Parcel, not the zoning 

changes and not the change in the lot lines of Malek’s property. Specifically, the 

evidence reflects the following:   

 The March 13, 2013 Purchase Agreement defines “Property” as “the 
real property and any personal property included in the sale.”49  
The Purchase Agreement further states that “Buyer acknowledges that 
at COE, the Property will be sold AS-IS.”50 

                                                 
49 2JA_0336 (emphasis added). 
50 2JA_0335 (emphasis added). 
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 The Real Estate Purchase Addendum states that “BUYER IS 

BUYING THE PROPERTY ‘AS IS.’”51 
 

 
 On February 20, 2013 the Rosenbergs’ letter of interest to BANA 

states in pertinent part: “ CONDITION OF PROPERTY: . . . Buyer 
shall purchase the property ‘As-Is.’”52   
 

 The March 13, 2013 email from the Rosenbergs’ realtor states “My 
buyers are very serious and have no restrictions regarding seeing 
the interior as they walked it during the construction phase, (they are 
aware that there was a leak) and they will take property AS-IS.53   

 
 

 By operation of law, any provision that, in word or effect, requires the buyer 

to accept the property “as is” merely means that the buyer accepts the property in 

the condition which is visible or observable by him. Therefore, when the seller or 

the seller's agent fails to disclose material facts regarding the condition of the 

property which are unknown to the buyer, an "as is" provision is ineffective to relieve 

the seller of any fraud liability arising from the nondisclosure. See Lingsch v. Savage, 

213 Cal. App. 2d 729, 742, 29 Cal. Rptr. 201 (1963) (stating that allowing as is 

provisions to negate concealment would be "to permit the seller to contract against 

his own fraud contrary to existing law"). 

                                                 
51 Respondent/Cross-Appellant’s Supplemental Appendix at 29-43. 
52 2JA_0308 (emphasis added). 
53 2JA_0325 (emphasis added). 
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 In addition to the documentary evidence, Plaintiff understood “AS-IS” to 

mean that they were purchasing the subject property “as is in terms of the structural 

problems that were inside the house, the cosmetic problems that were inside the 

house.”54 The Rosenbergs further understood “AS-IS” to mean “take the property as 

they see it.”55  As such, any reference to the Rosenbergs purchasing the subject 

property “AS-IS” pertains only to the subject property. Given this, the MacDonald 

Parties’ claim that the sale of the Golf Parcel was accessible to the Rosenbergs via 

an inspection of the property the Rosenbergs purchased is utter nonsense.    

 The MacDonald Parties further claim that the Rosenbergs “had access to all 

pertinent information regarding zoning information prior to the closing on the 

subject property.”56  However, for this allegation to have merit, the Rosenbergs 

would have needed a reason to inspect the zoning of the Golf Course. But the 

Rosenbergs were not informed by the MacDonald Parties that a portion of the Golf 

Course had been sold to Malek nor that the sale of the Golf Parcel altered Malek’s 

lot lines. The Rosenbergs had a “reasonable expectation that when you bought the 

house that the golf course was going to remain the way it looked at that time and 

that is what we were represented.”57 Furthermore, when the Rosenbergs conducted 

                                                 
54 2JA_0252, 74:8-13 (emphasis added). 
55 Id. at 74:16-17.  
56 1JA_0190, 15:17-18. 
57 2JA_0286, 212:12-16. 
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a visual inspection of the subject property, the Rosenbergs did not observe stakes 

on the Golf Parcel,58 or anything else that would have led them to believe the Golf 

Course had been altered. Therefore, because the Rosenbergs had no reason to 

believe there had been (or would be) a change to the Golf Course, they did not have 

a duty to inspect the zoning of the Golf Course.  

 Further, the Rosenbergs had no reason to go to the City of Henderson Planning 

Department to review the zoning of the subject property because the Zoning 

Classification and Land Use Disclosure states that it “contains the most recent 

zoning and land use information” for the subject property.59 Additionally, the 

Rosenbergs did not have a survey of the subject property conducted because the 

boundary lines and the subject property had not been altered based on the 

preliminary title report the Rosenbergs obtained.60 Therefore, because the 

Rosenbergs did not have knowledge of the sale of the Golf Parcel, they had no reason 

to inspect any boundary lines or zoning outside of the subject property, and the AS-

IS provisions do not apply to anything outside the subject property.  

 It is for these reasons that the District Court erred in granting summary 

judgment in favor of the MacDonald Parties. At a minimum, and as reflected by the 

case law cited by the MacDonald Parties, what the MacDonald Parties knew, 

                                                 
58 2JA_0266, 130:10-12. 
59 2JA_0347. 
60 2JA_0272, 156:10-12. 
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whether the information was material and whether this information was accessible 

to the Rosenbergs are all issues of fact, such that granting summary judgment on 

these issues was erroneous.  

IV. THE ROSENBERGS DID NOT CONCEDE DAMAGES WITH RESPECT TO THE 

MACDONALD PARTIES. 

Nothing in terms of damages was conceded by the Rosenbergs. In the Opening 

Brief, the Rosenbergs specifically indicated they would not address each and every 

erroneous finding of fact, but rather highlight the primary findings that led to the 

erroneous granting of summary judgment. The damages finding was a superfluous 

finding that had nothing to do with granting summary judgment. In fact, the only 

reason it was included is the Court accepted, whole-cloth, an order submitted by the 

MacDonald Parties even though the Rosenbergs specifically indicated they did not 

approve as to form and content. This finding like many findings by the Court also 

makes no sense given the actual provision quoted.  

Specifically, the actual provision quoted explains damages against the seller 

i.e. BANA are limited for claims arising from the Purchase Agreement or the sale. 

There is no mention of agents or brokers i.e. the MacDonald Parties. There can be 

no doubt, MacDonald, as broker, and Doiron, as agent for BANA are not party to 

either the Residential Purchase Agreement or the Real Estate Purchase Addendum. 

The only parties to the Residential Purchase Agreement are BANA and the 
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Rosenberg Trust.61 Additionally, the Real Estate Purchase Addendum clearly 

defines the word “Party” in its preamble section, by stating that: “Buyer and Seller 

may each referred to herein as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.”62 Nowhere 

in the Addendum is MacDonald, Doiron or FHP listed as parties. 

Under Nevada law, “[i]n the absence of clear evidence of a different intention, 

words [in a contract] must be presumed to have been used in their ordinary sense, 

and given the meaning usually and ordinarily attributed to them.” Reno Club v. 

Young Inv. Co., 64 Nev. 312, 323, 182 P.2d 1011, 1016 (1947). The court may not 

create for the parties a new contract which they have not created or intended 

themselves.” Id. Additionally, “‘[t]he court is not at liberty, either to disregard words 

used by the parties, descriptive of the subject matter or of any material incident, or 

to insert words which the parties have not made use of.’” Id. at 324, 182 P.2d at 1017 

(quoting 12 Am.Jur. [Contracts] secs. 228, p. 749.) Moreover, “‘ [t]he court can 

properly interpret a contract only as the parties make it, and cannot substitute words 

for those used by them.’” Id. As such, the provision cannot possibly apply to claims 

brought against the MacDonald Parties.  

Not only are the MacDonald Parties not included as a “Party” under either 

Agreement, they also cannot be qualified as intended third party beneficiaries under 

                                                 
61 See 2JA_0327. 
62 See 2JA_0340. 
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Nevada law. Under Nevada law, “[t]o obtain such a status, there must clearly appear 

a promissory intent to benefit the third party [], and ultimately it must be shown that 

the third party’s reliance thereon is foreseeable.”  Lipshie v. Tracy Inv. Co., 93 Nev. 

370, 379, 566 P.2d 819, 824-25 (1977).  The fact that [third party] might have 

incidentally benefitted by the performance of the Agreement is insufficient. Olson 

v. Iacometti, 91 Nev. 241, 533 P.2d 1360 (1975) (holding that “[third party] must 

prove that there was an intent to benefit him.”) citing Robins Dry Dock & Repair 

Co. v. Flint, 275 U.S. 303, 307, 48 S.Ct. 134, 135, 72 L.Ed. 290 (1927)). See Corbin 

on Contracts, § 779c (1951); Restatement of Contracts, § 133(1)(a)(b)(c) (1932). 

Here, the fact that broker and agent both benefited under the Agreements by 

virtue of collecting commission, at most qualifies them as an incidental beneficiary 

under the Olson case. Furthermore, even if the MacDonald Parties were parties to 

either Agreement, if an “as-is” provision cannot contract around liability for failure 

to disclose, then certainly a limitations of damages clause cannot contract around 

the monetary value of such liability. See Lingsch v. Savage, 213 Cal. App. at 742.  

In addition to the finding being inconsistent with the actual contract language, 

the District Court contradicted itself when it later found that the MacDonald Parties 

were not parties to either Agreement when determining the MacDonald Parties’ 

application for fees. Specifically, the MacDonald Parties claimed they were entitled 

to attorney’s fees under the Purchase Agreement and Addendum, but the District 
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Court rejected this argument finding that the MacDonald Parties were neither parties 

nor intended beneficiaries of either agreement. (14JA_3015-3025, 3041-3042). 

V. THE DISTRICT COURT ONLY CONSIDERED ONE BEATTIE FACTOR IN 

AWARDING ATTORNEYS FEES  

 The MacDonald Parties never even raised the Beattie factors in their motion 

for attorney’s fees. See Beattie v. Thomas, 99 Nev. 579, 668 P.2d 268 (1983). As the 

party seeking fees, the MacDonald Parties had the burden of proof with respect to 

the Beattie factors. Because the Motion was devoid of any Beattie analysis to which 

the Rosenbergs could respond, the District Court should have denied the Motion. 

See Khoury v Seastrand, 132 Nev. ___, ___, 377 P.3d 81, 88 n.2 (2016) (arguments 

not raised in an opening brief are deemed waived). It was error to allow the 

MacDonald Parties to raise new arguments in a Reply to which the Rosenbergs had 

no meaningful opportunity to respond in writing. The fact that the Rosenbergs took 

it upon themselves to address the Beattie factors does not ameliorate the MacDonald 

Parties’ failure to do this analysis.  

Equally wrong is the MacDonald Parties’ suggestion that the hearing 

addressed all the Beattie factors. The very portions cited only deal with the third 

factor, and even the MacDonald Parties concede the hearing focused more on the 

reasonableness prong. True to form, the MacDonald Parties want to blame the 

Rosenbergs for the direction that the hearing took and suggest that this is why the 

Court did not focus on the other prongs. It is not the Rosenbergs’ job to do the job 
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of the party seeking fees or the judge. The Rosenbergs opposed all three prongs that 

applied to the Offer (the first prong did not apply as the Offer was issued by a 

defendant), and the District erred when it did not conduct a complete Beattie 

analysis.    

Astonishingly, the MacDonald Parties go so far as to blame the Rosenbergs 

for the content of the order they drafted merely because the Rosenbergs approved as 

to form and content. But the Order accurately reflected what the District Court 

ordered; it lacked any Beattie analysis because the District Court did not complete a 

Beattie analysis. For these reasons, the District Court’s award of fees must be 

reversed.  

VI. THE MACDONALD PARTIES WAIVED THEIR REQUEST FOR POST-JUDGMENT 

INTEREST.  

 The MacDonald Parties never asked for post-judgment interest. Their motion 

for fees never asked for it and their motion for summary judgment never asked for 

it. Moreover, at no time after the Order granting summary judgment or the Order 

granting attorney’s fees was entered did the MacDonald Parties ask that the Court 

amend either Order to include such post-judgment interest. Having not asked for 

post-judgment interest below, the MacDonald Parties waived any right to seek it 

now. Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown, 97 Nev. 49, 52-53, 623 p.2d 981, 983-984 

(1981)(“A point not urded in the trial court . . . is deemed to have been waived and 

will not be considered on appeal.”). 
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VII. THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN AWARDING ATTORNEY 

FEES TO MALEK.  

Nothing about this case differs from Duff v. Foster, 110 Nev. 1306, 885 P.2d 

589 (1994), because the District Court found that the Rosenbergs were unreasonable

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